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MS. COCHRANE:  Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  My name is Ljuba Cochrane.  I am legal counsel for the Board Staff in this proceeding, which is a combined proceeding in the application by Canadian Niagara Power Inc. with respect to Eastern Ontario Power and Fort Erie and Canadian Niagara Power Inc.-Port Colborne.

This is -- there are three utilities involved in this proceeding.  The Board had decided to proceed by way of a combined proceeding, because there are common issues to all three utilities.  However, the proceeding thus far has been conducted by separate interrogatories with respect to each utility.

This proceeding, this technical conference, arises from the Board's Procedural Order No. 4, which provided for -- following the usual interrogatory process for additional clarification questions that were submitted by Board Staff and intervenors.

Procedural Order No. 4 provided that the clarification questions were to be filed by February 2nd and CNPI's written responses filed by February 13th.

Those steps have been concluded, and the next step in the proceeding, as provided for in Procedural Order No. 4, is this technical conference.  Following the technical conference will be the settlement conference.

So that is the order, how we got here today.

Can I have appearances for the parties?
Appearances:

MR. TAYLOR:  Why don't we start off with the CNPI representatives introducing themselves?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Stanton Sheogobind.

MR. BRADBURY:  Douglas Bradbury.


MR. KING:  Glenn King.

MR. HAWKES:  Scott Hawkes.

MS. PARKER:  Judith Parker.

MR. TAYLOR:  And I am Andrew Taylor, counsel for CNPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye, counsel for Energy Probe.  With me is David MacIntosh, also with Energy Probe.

MR. WIGHTMAN:  James Wightman for VECC and Michael Buonaguro, counsel to VECC.

MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  So I am advised that Board Staff does not have further questions for the applicant arising from the last round of interrogatories, so I would recommend that we just proceed with the -- turn over to the -- all right, would the applicant care to make any presentation or submissions before we turn the questions over to the intervenors?

MR. TAYLOR:   Yes.  The applicant would like to give a brief high-level overview of the applications.

MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you.
CANADIAN NIAGARA POWER INC. - PANEL 1

Presentation by Mr. Bradbury:

MR. BRADBURY:  Thank you.  Again, my name is Doug Bradbury.  I want to thank Board Staff and the intervenor community.

I just want to give a very brief introduction and some of the salient points that we think are in the applications.  As disclosed, CNPI, or Canadian Niagara Power, is an investor-owned LDC.  I think we're only one of two in Ontario.  CNPI is owned by Fortis Ontario, in turn owned by Fortis Inc. headquartered in St. John's, Newfoundland.

CNPI is a single corporate entity.  We have one distribution licence and we operate three service territories, Fort Erie, Port Colborne and Gananoque.  CNPI is also a licensed transmitter and it has transmission operations in Fort Erie which extend from Niagara Falls, Canada to Buffalo, New York.  CNPI operates with a single workforce, a single management team, and we do so by a system of shared assets and shared services.

In Fort Erie, we have approximately 15,600 customers.  We are located on the north shore of Lake Erie on the border with Buffalo.  Port Colborne, we have approximately 9,200 customers.  It is contiguous with Fort Erie immediately to the west and on Lake Erie.  Port Colborne, Fort Erie town centres are separate by approximately 30 kilometres along Highway 3.

Gananoque has roughly 3,500 customers.  It is located just east of Kingston, located in the Thousand Island area of the St. Lawrence.

Fort Erie was the original operation, before May 2002, was in the New York control area and never regulated by the former Ontario Hydro.

Port Colborne is a leased -- the lease was executed in April of 2002, immediately preceding market opening.  And, as a point of note, when we did execute the lease, there were several large capital projects that had, for reasons I guess -- have been delayed, and there was significant capital investment required, which was really part of other proceedings -- include just, briefly, the Allen Street substation, which was -- needed immediate attention.

Port Colborne is completely cut or separated by the Welland Canal.  The Hydro One transmission station is on the east side of the Welland Canal.  The load centre is on the west side.  So crossing the Welland Canal is key to servicing load in Port Colborne, and one of the first projects we had to do there was install a 1,000 MCM submarine cable across the Welland Canal.

Gananoque was acquired in April 2003.  Those who can recall will remember the utility in Gananoque was not market ready in April of 2003 and required significant investment in lines and stations.

Fort Erie, which is the original Canadian Niagara Power, was managed by Niagara Mohawk oversight.  Some of the challenge of Fort Erie is the non-conventional voltages.  It still uses a 4.8 kV delta distribution system, coupled to a 34.5 kV primary Y distribution system.  Both voltages are uncommon in Ontario.
I think other than Hydro Quebec, we're probably one of the few utilities in Canada that uses a 34.5, though it is quite common in the United States.

Some of the challenges we have had in Fort Erie is the aging stations, in particular.  One of the ongoing capital projects is replacement of station 13, and station 13 dates back to the original 25 cycle system with 4.8 kV delta.

Canadian Niagara Power is requesting in its applications to harmonize the distribution rates in Fort Erie and Gananoque. Harmonization is seen as a way of reducing the burden and the -- on both Canadian Niagara Power, from a regulatory point of view, and on the regulator.

We have discussed proposing to harmonize Port Colborne rates in 2012 when the existing lease expires, but, as it stands right now, the lease precludes us from proposing that at this time.

Some of the salient issues that we have identified -- and Andrew has passed around a couple of just one-pagers there.  The top page refers to the -- our OM&A costs.  Canadian Niagara Power has limited its OM&A from the 2006 Board-approved EDR to its 2009 forecast to approximately 0.8 percent per annum.

Actually, on a 2006 dollar basis, it translates using -- I did it quickly using our average workforce wage increase over that time of 3 percent, our union contracts.  That translates into about an 8 percent decrease in costs in 2006 dollars.

During this time, we have maintained our operating maintenance and administrative obligations.  In fact, one of our accomplishments was we were one of the first utilities in Ontario to receive the Gold ZeroQuest award from E&USA.

On the capex side, the second sheet in that handout, we have sort of -- in a way draws a picture of the capital investment that's being required.

I talked about, in Port Colborne, we required investments, the Allen Street substation early on.  The submarine cables were investments we had to make.  You know, there were no choices in those matters.  The transformer station's at the end of the life.  It was a safety concern for those operating it.  The submarine cable had failed.  The previous one had failed years before.

And we're into the 2008/2009 area, where you see an increase in costs.  We are faced now with the Wilhelm Road substation, which is a -- has a primary transformer which is approximately 50 years old.  It's been refurbished once.  It is nearing end of life.  It is a single source of supply for the east end of Port Colborne, large -- a large resort.  The Sherkston Beach Resorts is a large customer on that station.  We have undertaken this year to replace that station, and thus the increase.

In Fort Erie, I talked about the aging assets.  We are still -- much of the station equipment -- talked about Station 13 -- dates back to the 25-cycle, the protective relaying.  We have been maintaining and replacing it, and we have built some new stations, and we're going to a 15 kV class system, a Y system, with a multi-ground to neutral.

In Gananoque, you see the yellow curve, the yellow line, and the capital additions.  You'll see a large spike in 2007 in our capital spending.  This was a result of the 44 kV main station.

Gananoque as well runs on a non-standard voltage.  It has developed over many years, and they actually use a 26.4 kV delta system as their main supply.  So they receive 44 kV from Hydro One, step it to 24.6 delta, a single-source supply.

The transformer is older.  It required attention.  And we replaced it with a new feeder and constructed to the Ontario -- common Ontario standard 27.6, so we can readily access -- readily access spares if needed if we were to have a failure.  So that was one of the major investments there.

And one of the reasons I bring this up is, I just want to point out we have consistently invested.  We operate some of the more mature distribution systems.  We have consistently operated, and we've -- or invested, and we have invested in periods of historical rate-making and IRM, and we have realized that a lot of our investment, we have resulted in stranded depreciation expense, expenses that we have not recovered in rates in the past.

Just in closing, I wanted to say that we feel we have submitted three fulsome applications.  We have full disclosure of the pertinent operation of financial aspects of the electrical distribution.  All three of our areas have experienced very modest customer growth.

And in the case of Eastern Ontario Power, or Gananoque -- and I switch from one to the other, so they are one and the same -- in Gananoque we have actually seen a considerable contraction of the industrial sector, and particularly in the automotive side.  As I said before, the OM&A has been controlled and held to a very modest 0.8 percent per annum over the period.  And CNPI continues to invest in the capital to ensure the integrity and customer service is maintained.  Thank you.

MS. COCHRANE:  Reference was made to a document that needs to be entered as an exhibit.  So Exhibit TC1 will be Canadian Niagara Power Inc. operation, maintenance, and administrative expenses.  What would you call this, counsel, OM&A trend analysis, or...?  Is that a fair description?

MR. TAYLOR:  Why don't we label both sheets as Exhibit TC1, and we can call these cost analyses.

MS. COCHRANE:  All right.
EXHIBIT NO. TC1:  CANADIAN NIAGARA POWER INC. OM&A COST ANALYSES.

MS. COCHRANE:  So is that the conclusion of the applicant's submissions?  I guess we will turn to intervenors now to pose any clarification questions or further requests for information for the applicant's representatives.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I am looking at your answers to the supplementary interrogatories from the School Energy Coalition, and my first clarification is on Interrogatory No. 3.  Do you have that there?  Do you have that?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in this answer you say that this number of 24,621 hours is 13 FTEs.  Is that 13 employees, or is that 13 equivalent employees, but it is actually parts of a bunch of them?

MR. KING:  We use the term "FTE".  So it would be equivalent employees.  There would be approximately 13 employees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason I ask that is that because if you do the math that is 1,894 hours per person.  And you have said this is a net -- this is productive hours.  That seems like a lot.  Is that the sort of number of productive hours you are getting per person?

MR. KING:  Yes.  We would -- the way that -- let me just explain the methodology first.  We would get total hours.  We would take off vacation, we'd take off training time, we'd take off statutory holidays, and we'd count productive hours, and that would give us -- so that would be the approximate number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't that seem like a high number per employee?

MR. KING:  1,800?

MR. SHEPHERD:  1,894.

MR. KING:  16-, 17-, 1,800 is the range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The next -- my next question relates to the attachment to Interrogatory No. 4.  And this is your July 1st, 2003 service agreement.

And the question I want to ask is, you changed the definition of the -- of how the fees were set from this agreement to the next one.  How did you change the formula?  How did the fees actually change between the previous agreement and this agreement?

MR. HAWKES:  Jay, Scott Hawkes.  The change in the fees was driven, primarily, from comments from OEB staff when we submitted this, and I think what it was trying to do was trying to align with the latest version of ARC for fees to be charged amongst affiliates.

What it -- how it impacted on how charges were actually charged had no impact at all, because we continued to charge the fully loaded cost to each affiliate.  So this was the wording that was, I think, generated in conjunction with ARC, which was being re-drafted at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then let me ask the follow-up to that, which is, I am looking at 2.01 of that agreement.

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it says that the fees are supposed to reflect fair market value, and the new agreement doesn't say that, right, because that's contrary to ARC?

MR. HAWKES:  When we had this agreement drafted, we did have amongst the affiliates -- we did get an ARC exemption, by the way.  And this is part of the history prior to this.  We had generators as well as distributors.

Where a utility -- the second paragraph -- provides a service -- and I understand from that distribution utility -- the utility shall ensure that the sale price is no less than the fully-loaded cost of service.  So what we utilize amongst the affiliates is a fully-loaded cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, I...

MR. HAWKES:  I think, you know, perhaps some of these were drafted with the notion of the structure where you've got wiresco and holdco, and you've got employees in one and the other.  That is not what we have.  So we actually charge direct costs to affiliates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is where I am going with this.  The old agreement said the amounts that the utility, for example, would pay to its affiliates - so what you would pay to Cornwall, for example - would be costs plus a rate of return; right?  That's no longer ARC compliant, so you had to change it; right?

MR. HAWKES:  The wording from the previous agreement?  I would have to take a look at it, but the understanding is that the fee to be charged between affiliates should be no less than the fully loaded cost, and we charge the fully loaded cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is the amount that the utility gets paid for its services; right?

MR. HAWKES:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the amount the utility pays its affiliates for its services has a cap, not a floor; right?

MR. HAWKES:  Hmm-hmm.  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that correct?  Sorry, you have to verbalize your answer.

MR. HAWKES:  I understand that, in our situation, we charge no less than the utility's fully loaded cost of service when we're charging affiliates for services.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But I am asking the other direction.  I am asking the direction where the utility is receiving services from the affiliate.

MR. HAWKES:  Yes, right.  And, again, I think the answer would be the same, that they would charge -- they would pay the fully loaded rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was the case, then?

MR. HAWKES:  No, it was not -- I think the case was the same.  It was just the wording in the agreement had to mirror the latest version of ARC which was being drafted at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.

MR. HAWKES:  So these comments came, from when we submitted these, from OEB Staff saying this should be in line with what the current wording is contemplated in ARC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. HAWKES:  I also don't think it really contemplated the situation -- or is more appropriate to the situation where you've got that structure and where you've got the holdco, wiresco and servicesco, and, you know, the employees were in one company and charging it out to the other.  We don't have that structure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What structure do you have?

MR. HAWKES:  We've got structure -- we have actual -- the employees are in the distribution company.

MR. KING:  Maybe I can jump in and talk about shared services for a second.  Would that clarify things?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, fine.

MR. KING:  The way -- you know, from the outside looking in, and sometimes from the inside looking out, our operations look complicated.  We have six business units, okay?  We have Fortis Ontario, which is the parent company.  Really not much activity in Fortis Ontario.

We have Cornwall Electric, and then we have four business units within CNPI, transmission, the three distributions that we're here talking about today.

So where possible, we try to directly allocate charges.  So that would primarily happen in the area of customer service and operations.

So our line crews would go out in the Niagara Region, for example, and they would charge -- using time sheets, charge time for the jobs, be it capital- or operating-type job.  That would be based on a fully loaded labour rate, and that was your reference, the SEC 3, was it -- that's what we're talking about here.  There is no markup; there is no nothing.  It is the actual costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those line crews work for CNPI?

MR. KING:  They're employees of CNPI; correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But their employees of CNPI, the corporation, which has different units with different franchises?

MR. KING:  Correct, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you charge the cost, you charge it to the unit that the work is for?

MR. KING:  The way it is set up, all of the costs go into a cost centre.  Because of history, we started with Fort Erie.  The cost centre is based out of Fort Erie, so all of the costs would go into one cost centre in Fort Erie, and then they would charge out of that cost centre.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the costs are just put into Fort Erie temporarily?

MR. KING:  Temporarily, correct.  That's a good way to describe it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Some of those are allocated to Eastern Ontario Power?

MR. KING:  With respect -- we're just talking about direct costs right now.  The ones in Fort Erie for the operations crew, some of the supervisory engineering staff would certainly charge some time to Eastern Ontario Power as they do work.  So they're the direct allocations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The line crews would not, because they're different line crews in Gananoque?

MR. KING:  Yes, yes.  But the switch again in Gananoque, we're talking direct charge.  Gananoque does have its own crews.  However, they do get support from Cornwall, and Cornwall does exact same methodology.

If a Cornwall crew was to go down to assist someone in Gananoque, they would -- they also charge to a cost centre, their cost centre in Cornwall, and the same rate they would charge to Cornwall is the rate they would charge to Gananoque.  Basically, no markup, straight labour rate plus burdens.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- but also in Fort Erie you have work on the transmission; right?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that work is charged out -- the cost of that goes into Fort Erie first?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then Fort Erie charges this rate, $41 and change --

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- to the transmission unit?

MR. KING:  Yes, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if there is any error in that calculation, it's Fort Erie that eats it, because that's where all of the costs go, we know for sure; right?

MR. KING:  Not necessarily so.  Inevitably, because the rate is based upon a forecast of expenses -- we set a rate at the beginning of the year.  Inevitably there will be a balance left at the end of the day.  That balance would get up shared up amongst all of the business units.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And why is it that Fort Erie eats the costs at the outset?

MR. KING:  They're parked.  I wouldn't call it eats the costs.  They are parked in Fort Erie to begin with, because Fort Erie is where we started from.  That was going back, you know, since day 1.  Fort Erie was the base.

So transmission was there, got added, got broken off separately.  Then Port Colborne came on.  Then the OP came on.  So it was sort of set up as Fort Erie.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. KING:  We try to keep all employees within CNPI, but that is just on the direct costs, direct allocations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I understand.  I understand.

So does -- now, Fort Erie gets -- Fort Erie and Transmission also get services from Cornwall; right?

MR. KING:  Very limited.  There might be some -- but there is no reason for Cornwall's crews to come down to Fort Erie to do work -- it was extenuating circumstances, there was a big job.  But, traditionally, you would primarily find work going on in -- Cornwall would not come down to Niagara.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These are the old agreements -- no.  This is the July 1st, 2003 agreement.  That's the old agreement.

MR. HAWKES:  That's the old agreements, yes.  The newer ones are in the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, but they're the same parties; right?

MR. HAWKES:  The same parties?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HAWKES:  Yes, with the exception of Fortis Ontario Generation, I think.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm just looking at the Cornwall one.  The Cornwall one has a whole list of things they're doing for their affiliates, which include things like operating the SCADA system and legal and secretarial services.  Is that just --

MR. KING:  That is just the agreement.  That's not actually what happens.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what actually happens?

MR. HAWKES:  The agreement was designed to be all-encompassing, so if there is any possible service that was related to the operation or the distribution of business, that one company could provide it to the other under the services agreement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.  My next question is related to Interrogatory No. 5.  I guess I am a little bit confused here, so maybe you could just help me out.

Fortis Ontario has invested in Grimsby Power; right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But CNPI is providing CIS services to Grimsby Power?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the rate that you are using for those CIS services is $115 per hour?

MR. HAWKES:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For the labour component?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I couldn't figure out here what the base is, what the rationale behind that rate was, except that you negotiated it?

MR. HAWKES:  Can I answer that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. HAWKES:  It's important to distinguish -- as Glenn said, there is the CIS system which is being put in by Fortis Ontario, and there is also the purchase of Grimsby Power, which is being purchased by Fortis Ontario, not CNPI.

Once this --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just stop you.  The CIS system is being put in by Fortis Ontario?

MR. HAWKES:  Is being paid for by Fortis Ontario.  It was part of the purchase agreement with Grimsby Power.  So they're paying consideration of 1.1 million and they're installing a CIS system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fortis Ontario is?

MR. HAWKES:  Fortis Ontario is.  Once that CIS system has been installed and it goes live, then CNPI is going to be charging services to Grimsby for its ongoing maintenance and support.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because Fortis Ontario has assets, but it doesn't have people.

MR. HAWKES:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The people are in --

MR. HAWKES:  There are a few people, but they're allocated amongst the various business units.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the same CIS is going to be used by CNPI, right?

MR. HAWKES:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's in your application?

MR. HAWKES:  The same CIS system is in our application.  Well, it is in place right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- well, no, you talked about it as if it is a future CIS --

MR. HAWKES:  Oh, no, no, it is our SAP CIS system, which we have in operation right now.  And we have a template, a CIS, which is an Ontario-ready, market-ready template that works, that we're putting in, into Grimsby.

And Grimsby had a system that was going out of support, and when we negotiated with them, we said that we would -- or when Fortis negotiated with them, Fortis said, We will pay for our economic interest in this company, and part of the consideration will be cash, part of it will be the installation of a new CIS system.  New for Grimsby, but it is our existing CNPI system.

Once it is up and running, there will be a separate maintenance and support agreement between GPI, Grimsby Power, and CNPI for the maintenance and support.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is the -- the CIS isn't in your rate base, right?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought it was owned by Fortis Ontario?

MR. KING:  No.  That's part of the shared assets.  But the CIS system, or SAP system, is in the CNPI assets, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So are you getting paid for the use of your CIS system?

MR. KING:  Who?

MR. SHEPHERD:  CNPI.

MR. KING:  For the use of it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KING:  By...?

MR. SHEPHERD:  By Grimsby.

MR. KING:  Yes, that's -- yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So I didn't see that here.  You are getting paid for your people.  But I didn't hear you say that there is a fee for the CIS.

MR. HAWKES:  The CIS is actually being installed by CNPI employees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So the employees are getting covered.  I understand that.

MR. HAWKES:  And they're charging out their time to Fortis Ontario.  Fortis Ontario will pay back whatever time it takes to install the CIS system.  So CNPI is held whole for the consideration for the work to put the CIS system in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that is just the incremental cost of the add-on, right?  It is not the -- because it is not a new system.  It is an existing system.  You are adding new customers.

MR. HAWKES:  And the other piece of the puzzle to make this work is SAP licensing, and Grimsby is separately dealing with SAP to get their licensing.

So what we're doing -- we own the template.  We're putting in the template.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, who is "we own the template"?

MR. HAWKES:  CNPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Owns the template.

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're not getting -- nobody is paying you for that.

MR. HAWKES:  Fortis Ontario will pay for all the time it takes for us to install this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am talking about payment for the intellectual property.  You have a system that is worth a lot of money.  You are going to let somebody else use it.  Are you being paid for the right to use your system?

MR. HAWKES:  Whatever value is being put on that is being paid by Fortis Ontario to CNPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's that value?

MR. HAWKES:  I guess it is part of the consideration that is flowing from Fortis Ontario to CNPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am asking for details.  It's a Technical Conference.

MR. HAWKES:  There is not a large component related to any intellectual property.  I guess it's similar to the Kodak Group.  In the Kodak Group, the template was going to be given by London to all the Kodak members, free of cost.

Where the money comes in is praying for the implementation and paying for the licensing.  In this case, the work is being done by CNPI employees.  Their labour will be paid, their costs will be paid, by Fortis, and with respect to licensing, CNPI -- or GPI, sorry, Grimsby Power, is dealing directly with SAP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason why this makes sense for Grimsby is, you already have an existing system, and so the costs of them putting in a new system would be a lot more, whereas piggybacking on the existing one you have and just setting up a new user within your existing system is cheaper, right?

MR. HAWKES:  It is not as simple as just piggybacking.  It's like a full implementation.  You have to go in.  You have to examine all of their business processes.  Some of them in customer service are going to be different.

So we have to map out -- we have to actually map out our methodology and the way SAP uses our business processes, and they have to change the way they do business.  Some aspects of it will change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, sorry, my question was, it is cheaper for them to do it this way?

MR. HAWKES:  Well, I guess -- I don't have the information.  But they did look at other alternatives, and they considered ours to be comparable.  There are risks going with a new system, of course, you know, project risk.  Is it going to work?  When is it going to work?  And I think that was another risk that they were avoiding by going with our system.  It was a proven technology.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said earlier that the consideration that Fortis Ontario was paying to Grimsby --

MR. HAWKES:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- was $1.1 million of cash.

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Plus they were installing the CIS, right?

MR. HAWKES:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So presumably that means that Grimsby is getting a benefit out of this?

MR. HAWKES:  The shareholder is -- the shareholder -- the contract's between the shareholder of Grimsby and Fortis Ontario.  So I am not sure what arrangement Grimsby Power has with its parent with respect to the CIS system that the parent has been provided contractually.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

Now I am looking at Interrogatory No. 6.  You did an internal review of whether to upgrade your SAP now or later or at all.  And we asked for the documentation associated with it, and you provided nothing.

Was nothing written down relating to the results of this review?

MR. HAWKES:  Well, I can tell you, I was -- there was an internal team put together, which included myself.  It's a cross-functional team:  Judith from finance and my IT manager.  And we spent some considerable time going through a number of options -- six options, in fact -- to doing the upgrade, including the status quo.

As we went through, examining the options, we considered a number of risks, a number of risks like contract risk, project-management risk.  In some cases there were governance risks, regulatory risks.

And by the time we finished assessing those risks, we decided that, given our existing system, that it was stable, that we had internal staff trained on SAP, that we would continue to use SAP beyond the end of support date, which is now 2010.

Now, when I made this presentation, I made it to our CEO verbally, and there was no written report.  What we decided to do at that point was then say, okay.  We have made the decision we are going to keep this, which is -- happens to be what we thought was going to be the least-cost option.

And we did not engage a full scoping, which would then -- a full scoping would be necessary to determine the full cost of an SAP upgrade.  SAP just doesn't say, Here's the price of an upgrade, because you have to price the cost of the implementation.  They have to look at your business processes.  So it would be a major exercise and an expensive one to do a full scoping.

So based on our analysis of the risks and the decision to keep the status quo, we decided to keep our version.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In what document did you communicate your decision on this?  Your team made a decision.

MR. HAWKES:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You communicated that somehow --

MR. HAWKES:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- to the rest of the company, to your board of directors, et cetera.

MR. HAWKES:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the document in which you communicated that analysis and that result?

MR. HAWKES:  It was probably, like, in the form of a memo, but there was no formal report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you then provide us with that memo, please?

MR. HAWKES:  Is it relevant to the application my question is, given that the decision was to go status quo?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am afraid, Mr. Hawkes, it is not up to you to question relevance.  It is up to your lawyer to question relevance.  I've asked for the question.  You can either refuse or give it to me.

MR. TAYLOR:  So you have asked for the undertaking, and I would like to discuss it with my client, and we will continue after I have had a chance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  We have asked for financial statements of your affiliates with whom you have cost-based arrangements for inter-company payments, and you have declined in a number of interrogatories.

I am going to ask you again for the income statements of your affiliates with whom you have -- you receive cost-based services.  Will you provide them?

MR. TAYLOR:  I am going to jump in.  We are going to stick to our guns on the responses that we gave in the January 16th, 2009 letter to the Ontario Energy Board.

So I might be able to save you some time.  So for all of the information requested, we are going to be responding in the exact same way.  So the answer is "no".

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I am now looking at Interrogatory No. 9.

This is a list of cash payments made by Fortis Ontario on behalf of CNPI; right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just understand some of these.  The first of these is Fortis Inc. corporate services fees for CNPI paid by FON.

So do I understand correctly that, internally, CNPI owes Fortis Inc. certain fees for corporate services?  The actual payment is made by Fortis Ontario and charged to CNPI?

MR. KING:  Correct.  Another way of stating that, Fortis Inc. would send Fortis Ontario a bill and Fortis Ontario would share that out, exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so it is -- so this is an allocation; right?

MR. KING:  Yes.  And this is part of the allocation, as is part of the evidence, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So where it says the cash payments made do not represent allocation of services, that's not correct, because at least this one is an allocation of services; right?

MR. KING:  Yes, and as footnoted in the page 2 of 2 in the interrogatory response.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. KING:  I think in this particular case, there was two invoices.  There was two particulars, one from Ernst & Young who sent us one bill, which we allocate, and there is the Fortis Inc. which comes in and which we allocate, which is described there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, property taxes, you actually get bills for individual properties, right, for your property taxes, and the bills come to Fortis Ontario?

MR. KING:  I can't confirm exactly where the bills come.  Obviously we are paying some of the bills, so some of them come to Fortis Ontario; correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason why I ask that is because it was my understanding that you are using -- in Fort Erie, you are using real estate assets that are owned by Fortis Ontario, aren't you?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are paying rent, in fact.  Are you also paying, then, property taxes?

MR. KING:  Correct.  A triple net lease.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then that is also an allocation.  Property taxes is also an allocation?

MR. KING:  Well, property taxes is the -- since billing is owned by -- I should caveat by saying I am not sure exactly what the specific property taxes is about, okay, but assume for a second the property tax relates to that service centre.  The service centre is legally owned by Fortis Ontario.

The bill comes to Fortis Ontario.  Fortis Ontario says, Okay, CNPI it is part of our lease agreement.  You are responsible for the bill.  The bill was paid by Fortis Ontario, in essence, given to CNPI, who allocated based on the allocations elsewhere throughout.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That service centre is not 100 percent used by Fort Erie, is it?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Correct, it is not?

MR. KING:  Correct it is not used 100 percent by Fort Erie.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the property taxes are allocated based on the usage of the service centre?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When it says here directly attributable, that is not correct?

MR. KING:  Well, it is directly attributable, because Fort Erie pays all of the rent.  Fort Erie paid similar to -- we're going back to our conversation on the cost centre for the aligned process.  Fort Erie would pay the property tax, and then allocate it out itself.

So we would be directly attributable to Fort Erie CNPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this 236,997 is paid by CNPI, and then it is allocated to its units?

MR. KING:  I couldn't firm that is exactly paid by CNPI or paid by Fortis Ontario, who, in essence, billed then CNPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This amount is the gross amount before any is allocated to any of the units?

MR. KING:  As I caveated before, assuming this is what this bill is for, yes, that would be the gross amount.

Then CNPI-Fort Erie would allocate it out based upon the BDR report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the MEARRI insurance costs, is there an actual bill that is for the CNPI MEARRI costs?

MR. KING:  Yes.  Given -- you know, looking at this now and knowing how the cash flows back and forth, if -- you know, one of my first steps coming out of this would be to show that CNPI pays all of its own bills and Fortis Ontario doesn't pay the bills.

Fortis Ontario has five employees.  That's it.  So most of those bills are all for CNPI.  So whether or not -- I am not quite sure if the bill says Fortis Ontario or it says CNPI on it, but, in essence, they're for the employees of CNPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they include employees of Fortis Ontario?

MR. KING:  Yes, there are four or five employees of Fortis Ontario.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is an allocation that goes on?

MR. KING:  I'm not sure if -- actually, I don't think the Fortis Ontario employees pay for the MEARRI costs.  These are life insurance?

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.

MR. KING:  I don't think Fortis Ontario participates in that life insurance.  So, in essence, they are for CNPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, they're not covered or they don't pay?

MR. KING:  They're not covered.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  What about Cornwall?

MR. KING:  Cornwall would get its own bill.  I am not quite sure, again, if this is for the -- all of Cornwall Electric and CNPI.  I can't confirm that.  But, anyway, they would be by direct individual employees who are of those business units.  So it would be a direct allocation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it sounds like you don't know whether it is a direct allocation.  That's what it is supposed to be?

MR. KING:  This is more of a cheque-writing service, that the costs and the invoices are allocated directly to this company and that company.  I don't know if all of the invoices come in, whether or not they have Fortis Ontario on it or if they have CNPI on it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to find out, sir, is this amount -- and it's a small amount, but we're trying to understand how the system works; right?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is this amount an invoice that relates only to CNPI, and, as you say, Fortis Ontario is simply operating a cheque writing service, or is it part of a larger invoice, or is it an invoice that includes other things and some allocation has to be done to get the correct amount that goes to CNPI?  It can't be both.

MR. KING:  I can't answer that question.  For all of these individual ones, I can't answer it.

I don't know if it is direct.  It is -- in essence, though, what it is meant to be is Fortis Ontario writes a cheque on behalf of CNPI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not sure that is how it actually works?

MR. KING:  No.  That's exactly what happens.  Fortis Ontario writes a cheque on behalf of CNPI, and these -- excuse me, I should correct myself.  I should have read the heading here.

This came out of the audited financial statements.  So this $3.1 million -- so these are direct payments made by Fortis Ontario on behalf of CNPI.  So I can clarify myself.  By knowing that there -- those payments are all directly related to CNPI, not Cornwall Electric, and, as I say, a cheque-writing service, except for there are a couple that are noted.  We get one bill from Ernst & Young which we allocate around.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to understand is whether, in fact, there's an invoice for CNPI that happens to be coming to Fortis Ontario and is being paid on behalf of CNPI, or whether there is a larger invoice that is allocated out, and then the component that relates to CNPI is being paid by Fortis Ontario.

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it the former or the latter?

MR. KING:  I can't confirm that.  I can't go on the record and confirm which is the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, similarly, with things like your audit fees, Ernst & Young sends the organization a bill; right?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have to internally figure out who should pay for it?

MR. KING:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have an allocation system for that?

MR. KING:  Revenue and rate bases.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  Similarly, GST, there's one GST bill for Fortis Ontario; right?

MR. KING:  CNPI would also have the GST.  Again, I am not sure of the exact nature of all of these individual charges, but CNPI would certainly pay GST on its behalf, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask about the biggest one, Sun Life Insurance and RRSP costs.  Now, the deal you have -- the deal that Fortis Inc. has with Sun Life and with the RRSP providers is a Canada-wide deal; right?

MR. KING:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it an Ontario-wide deal?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so a bill comes in from the life insurance company for some amount of money, and then you have to figure out, okay, who pays what, because -- and it is based on who has the employees, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you have to divide it up.

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the amount here, a million dollars, is CNPI's share.

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then that in turn has to be split up between the four regulated units of CNPI?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me move on to Interrogatory No. 10.  And --

MR. TAYLOR:  Jay, can I just interrupt for a second?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. TAYLOR:  How much ballpark time do you have left?  Because I'm wondering if this would be a good to take a five-minute washroom break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fifteen minutes, 20 minutes.  Do you want me to continue, or do you want to break?

MR. KING:  I'm good.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In Interrogatory No. 10, this discusses the extent to which you use judgment in your rate design.

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who actually does that?

MR. BRADBURY:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is there a formal process internally for having it reviewed and approved?

MR. BRADBURY:  We work as a group.  I guess, as I do my -- the rate design component, you know, fairly small office, I'll just walk across the hallway and go in to Glenn and say, you know, This -- I've come up with this proposal.  It sort of shares the burden, you know, from a cost recovery point of view.  I can't get all the way into the Board's ratio, but, you know, I am pushing the envelope as far as I can, or -- and we will talk it over.

But from an optimization point of view, I think -- I don't want to use the word "optimization", you know, literally.  What I do is I look at each class and I balance the cost-to-revenue ratios, I balance the rate impacts, I come back, I redo it.

I do it in a sense that -- I think the word I use, I want to be fair to all customer classes.  You know, I don't want to bring -- you know, if I brought my GS greater than 50 class down from 140 to 125 then -- you know, from the distribution of revenues, then I push residential right to the limit at 10 percent or something.

So it is optimization from a point of view of trying to find a fair mix.  And I do that on a manual process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that then has to be approved by somebody, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  Approved?  Like, you mean sign something I approve that?  No.  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are left on your -- you can set whatever rates you like?  Surely your CEO or your board of directors has to see this and have some justification for how you have done it.

MR. BRADBURY:  They know how I do it.  They know the results.  And again, like I say, it is a fairly small shop, back and forth with Glenn on a regular basis.  Judith I talk to.  And, you know, we sit down and we look at it, and Glenn might say, Well, you know, just run back and, you know, see if you can push it down a little further.  Run back and get me another one.  And I say, Well, fine.  I will push it back another percent.  I am pushing residential up to, you know, this range.


And it is not a formal -- no one -- there is no paper says, I agree with this, or...  No.  And I don't think, on a design basis, no, it doesn't go to the board of directors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have to put the rates you are applying for to your board before you make an application, right?  Your board of directors approved this rate application, said, 'Yes, go ahead and ask for those rates.'

MR. KING:  They're aware of the rate increases we are asking for, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your board of directors has never seen the rate schedule that you have presented to the Board for approval here?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Interrogatory No. 11 relates to Port Colborne.  And I take it, Mr. Taylor, that when I ask questions about the rate-making implications of these arrangements, that I will continue to have a refusal on those?

MR. TAYLOR:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly with No. 12 and No. 13?

MR. TAYLOR:  Sorry, what is No. 12?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No. 12 is details relating to the master implementation agreement.  And you have said --


MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And No. 13, relating to Port Colborne Hydro?

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a representative of Port Colborne Hydro Inc. here in the room?

MR. TAYLOR:  No, there is not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board ordered that you answer questions on behalf of Port Colborne Hydro; correct?

MR. TAYLOR:  Correct.  We understand that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not willing to answer questions on their behalf?

MR. TAYLOR:  Not if we don't feel that they're relevant to the proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm looking at Interrogatory No. 18.  Do you have that there?

MR. KING:  Correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There were assets damaged in the storm in Port Colborne, right?  Do we know how much -- what the dollar amount was?

MR. KING:  Judith?

MS. PARKER:  No, not for Port Colborne.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a fairly substantial amount, right?  It was like a million dollars, $2 million, something like that?

MR. KING:  A million or $2 million?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KING:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?

MR. KING:  25,000, 50,000, maybe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yeah?  Okay.  And so those assets that were destroyed, they're now out of service because they're destroyed, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you've replaced them?

MR. KING:  Correct.  If they needed replacing, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the replacement assets are now in your rate base?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The old assets were not in your rate base?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And now I am looking at Interrogatory No. 21.  Interrogatory No. 21 refers to the executive category of employees, which you have combined with the management class for the purpose of reporting information.

Part of the question -- and I understand the rest of your answer.  I get that.  But part of the question was, how many actual employees are included in those FTEs?  Because you are allocating a bunch of people.  You're allocating half of this person and a quarter of this person, et cetera.  How many actual employees do that work in the executive class?  Not FTEs now.  Actual people.

MR. HAWKES:  Well, what we were asked to disclose was set out in evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I know it is in the evidence, sir.

MR. HAWKES:  I think there is one FTE in Fort Erie, and then less than one in each of Port Colborne and Gananoque --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My question is, how many people are providing that service?

MR. HAWKES:  It would be the number of employees that would be in Fortis Ontario, would be four or -- I think four.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there are four employees in the executive class?

MR. HAWKES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I would ask you again for the information that we requested relating to compensation levels, given that, because there is more than three, the handbook no longer applies.

MR. HAWKES:  The handbook talks about FTEs.  If there are three or fewer FTEs, the information can be aggregated, and that's the methodology that we used.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The purpose of the handbook is to avoid disclosing individuals' salaries.  If you have four people, there is no disclosure.  I am asking again, please provide me with the gross information of the four employees in these compensation categories.

MR. TAYLOR:  Jay, we are going to stick to the interpretation that we have given, which is by FTEs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Excuse me one second.

Sorry, I didn't want to tread on VECC's lawn.  I am looking at VECC interrogatory -- Supplementary Interrogatory No. 33.

MR. HAWKES:  Fort Erie?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  This shows the reducing percentages of capitalization of OM&A costs?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that?  Why has that happened?

MR. KING:  Our capitalization of OM&A costs, there's two type of costs we capitalize.

There is, I will call it, the direct general expense capital and the indirect general expense.  The indirect -- the direct is more along the planning group, who charge through capital jobs; whereas the indirect is the admin folks that charge their overhead.

The direct GEC, I will call it, are charging less of their time to a general capital order and more specifically to individual jobs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no idea what you just said.  Try that again.

MR. KING:  Well, basically, in a nutshell, what I am trying to say is that the planning group, within the company, are allocating more of their time not as an overhead, but directly to capital jobs, specific jobs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As a result, the net amount being allocated to capital is going down?

MR. KING:  Yes.  Before that amount was called an overhead.  They were charging to one overhead account.  Now they're charging more directly to jobs as opposed to overhead accounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a change in methodology?

MR. KING:  A slight change in methodology.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This happened in 2008 or 2007 that you changed the approach?  It looks like it was late 2007, just from the numbers.

MR. KING:  Just let me confer with our operations folks.

[Witness panel confer]


MR. KING:  That's correct.  2008 would have been...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have two more questions.  The first relates to Interrogatory No. 35 of VECC.  It is VECC-Port Colborne.  This is just a small clarification.

You have each of residential and GS under 50 changing by 20.  Is this a migration or is it just by chance?

MR. BRADBURY:  This is Fort Erie 35?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  This is Port Colborne 35.

MR. BRADBURY:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that a migration of customers between those two classes, or is that just by chance that they changed by 20 in opposite directions?

MR. BRADBURY:  The GS less than 50 and the GS greater than 50 -- and I went to some extensive detail in my forecasting.  Our year end numbers are greatly impacted by the activity of the lake boats that tie up in Port Colborne in December, if Fraser Marine or some of these people win contracts, and we see ships tied up along the edge of the Welland Canal in Port Colborne.

As I tried to explain in my forecasting, they create an anomaly for us, because they normally tie up in late November when the canal closes, and they may take service to mid January or they may take service in January to February, depending on when they contract for maintenance.

What Port Colborne has is a series of pedestals along the edge of the canal that, when these ships dock and they contact us, we basically go out and we activate the service.  We plug in.  They may use welding machines, compressors.  They may only use them for a couple of weeks, but they greatly impact what happens on our year end numbers.  So it is always difficult to tell.  But there is not a lot of migration from one class to another.

We do, from a regulatory point of view, review our customer counts to see if we have customers that have transitioned from one class to another.

But, no, most of the activity in Port Colborne relates to whether boats tie up in the Welland Canal for maintenance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It sounds like sort of the fast food version of distribution.

MR. BRADBURY:  It's like a fast food.  We've streamlined it.  Years ago it was a fair bit of work for our crews.  They would have to let us know in advance.  We would go out, you know, and we would have to go out and install or close cutouts, and what we did through a mutual agreement with them and financing is, some years ago, we installed these pedestals.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And these customer numbers for Port Colborne, they don't yet include the long-term load transfer customers?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, they do not.  We have not been able to sell them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then my last question relates to Interrogatory No. 44, which is also a Port Colborne interrogatory.

I have to admit I was confused at the response, and it may just be that it was -- I was tired by the time I got to the end.  It looks to me like you changed the methodology for this allocation and that's the reason why there is a greater allocation to Port Colborne; is that right?

MR. HAWKES:  There was a change in methodology from 2006 Board approved and 2007 actual.

In those years, facility maintenance labour was directly charged to CNPI's operating expenses and not through shared allocations.

In those other years, the 2008 bridge and 2009, those facilities maintenance labour charges were then charged through the allocation of services.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And these allocations would otherwise have been in Fort Erie; right?  In the old system, who paid for this?

MR. HAWKES:  I don't know if it would have been Fort Erie or it would have been a direct charge.

MR. KING:  It likely would have been a direct charge to Port Colborne as opposed to being allocated to Port Colborne.

MR. HAWKES:  So it would be charged to operating expense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So no dollar impact, just a change in the way that it's being charged to Port Colborne?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. COCHRANE:  Shall we take a brief break at this point, or -- well, I think there was some interest in having a break at some point.  So come back at 11 o'clock.

--- Recess taken at 10:45 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:00 a.m.


MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  We are back now after a brief morning recess.  We are going to continue until about 11:45 this morning, as I understand the intervenors and some counsel are involved in a conference call on another matter that is scheduled for noon.


Then any idea as to how long this conference call is expected to last, so that we can allow enough time for the call and for everybody to get some lunch before we reconvene?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The conference call is scheduled for twelve o'clock, and my guess is it will take between 30 and 45 minutes.  Is that fair?  I see Mr. Dominy nodding his head.  And so my suggestion would be that we come back at 2:00.

MS. COCHRANE:  2:00?  All right.  Fine.  Okay.  We will continue until 11:45, and then we will break until 2:00 p.m.
  And I think, Mr. Shepherd, you were -- were you finished your questions for the applicant representatives?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am done.


MS. COCHRANE:  Done.  Okay.  Any other questions from other intervenors?


MR. FAYE:  We have a few questions.
Questions by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  I am Peter Faye, counsel for Energy Probe.  And our questions -- the first one is on the Eastern Ontario Power application.  If I could ask you to turn to Interrogatory No. 1 of Energy Probe.  I suppose we will probably need the original exhibit, which I believe is page 16 of Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1.


My question here was just to clarify the sources of supply for Gananoque and to try and understand the capacity that you have.


So on the Interrogatory No. 1, your response was that, if I look at the chart that you provided, that the summer peak in 2008 was about 12.5 MVA and the winter peak was 12.9, so around 13.  And in the forecast for winter and summer 2009, it seems to have dropped considerably from that, and I wonder if you can just comment on the reasons for that.


MR. BRADBURY:  The peak has dropped.  Is that what -- you're referring to capacity, or the anticipated peak?


MR. FAYE:  The anticipated peak at this point.

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.  The anticipated peak in Gananoque has dropped because of the -- my discussion of the large four industrial users that have -- as of now, all four have closed their doors, and that has had an impact on the anticipated loads and kilowatts.


MR. FAYE:  And is that the same reasoning for the steady decline from 2005, where you peaked at about 15 and a half?  There's been a general erosion of the commercial-industrial base?


MR. BRADBURY:  The commercial-industrial base, the activity of the four customers that were in the general service greater than 50 time of use is definitely a major contributing factor.


There was a -- we also recognized for a brief period there when the -- during the dollar being at par, whatever, that we did see some decline in overall use.


Gananoque -- I don't know how familiar you are -- Gananoque advertised itself as the gateway to the Thousand Islands.  It has a lot of motels, hotels, restaurants, and it does a lot of tourism business, is one of its largest -- so any impact on tourism is reflected through as well.  But the major contributors definitely is the decline in the industrial load base.


MR. FAYE:  And is it fair to say that the prospects of that picking up anytime in the near future are pretty dim?


MR. BRADBURY:  I know in the case of one of the four, it's been dismantled and is gone.  And some of the others have been occupied by -- I would think one is a warehousing operation.  But, yeah, the industrial load, in my opinion, is gone -- or in our opinion, I should say, is gone.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  If you could just turn to our Interrogatory No. 2, again on Eastern Ontario.  This was a good answer.  I am just not certain I really understand it.  And it has to do with the capacity of the main station and how you feed your substations.


It seemed to me that, given the peak load that you had, that the capacity of main station was way oversized.  Could you just explain the principles behind the main-station capacity?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, I will try to explain that.  At the time we started planning for the new substation in Gananoque, which was back in 2005 -- and the numbers we were just looking at on the previous interrogatory -- we were looking at a peak load in excess of 15.6 megawatts.  And that's a megawatt load.  Then converted to MVA, that would be something around 17 MVA.

So when we were deciding on the size of the new transformer for Gananoque, we were planning on that basis, and we think that part of prudent utility design is to have a -- you've got to have a little bit of a window to allow for future load growth, because we figure that with good maintenance practices we can keep that transformer going for approximately 40 years.


So really, you know, we want to have that asset to be useful to us for the next four years.  So that's why there's a little bit of a capacity over and above what the peak load was at the time that we started planning for the substation.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So it really relates to the forecast you had at the time when you rehabbed the station --

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That is correct, yes.  Because obviously, we start planning a couple years in advance of when we actually put the substation in service.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  There is a chart on Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A, page 1.  You don't have to turn it up, because you probably know it by heart.  And I just would like you to explain if I've got the supply pattern proper.


The main station is your sort of central transformer station, if you will, and it supplies all of your subs?


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  That is correct.  It is a sole-source supply in Gananoque.  We've got a 44 kV feed coming in from Hydro One, and there is only one substation in Gananoque, which is the main substation, where we step down from 44 kV to 26 kV.


So to answer your question, yes, that is the sole source of supply, and all the supply to the Town of Gananoque emanates from that substation.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Do you have any directly connected customers to main, or are they all fed through one of the lower-voltage subs?


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Sorry, could you repeat the question, please?


MR. FAYE:  Do you have any directly connected customers to the main station, or are they all fed by one of the succeeding subs?


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, there was one industrial customer that was connected to the 44 kV system, but that's one of the industrial customers that Doug was referring to that has now ceased to operate.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks for that.

The next question I have concerns our Interrogatory No. 3, and the question was actually about rebuilding a line, a 39-kilometre line, called the North Line.


And what we asked was, are there any customers on this line, and I think the response we got was, yes, there's customers on it, but they're generators.  Is that correct?  Have I got that right?


MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The three generators that are mentioned, this Brewers Mills, Jones Falls, and Washburn, are they owned by Fortis?


MR. BRADBURY:  They are owned by Fortis Properties.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So I guess where I was going with this, if they're customers, are they -- what are they taking load for?  If they're -- if you view them as a customer receiving power not generating into the system, what's their load for?


MR. BRADBURY:  When they're not generating -- and the plants in -- I can't speak authoritative -- the plants in the -- on the Rideau Canal or Rideau water system are subject to water control by the Rideau system.

So they lie idle quite a period of time during the year, and they do take power at those times.  And so they become -- if they're not generating, then they become users of power for their supply service.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Is that the rationale for not charging them anything for that 39-kilometre line?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yeah.  Essentially, I guess that goes back to the legacy system of the distribution system in Gananoque.

As I indicated, in April of 2003 we negotiated with the previous owners of the distribution system, which at that point -- the owner up until April 2003, as the Board knows, did not enter the market.  It maintained pre-market status.  So their generators -- they were an integrated utility, I guess I would say.

In the legacy system, when we assumed or acquired the distribution utility, we acquired all distribution, which included the north line.  So that north line was a part of the Gananoque distribution system and it was acquired as a part of the distribution system.

MR. FAYE:  I think I hear what you're saying.  They weren't regulated.  They didn't fall under the Distribution System Code, so they could pretty much do as they pleased?

MR. BRADBURY:  No.  They were regulated.  Again, I am not party to anything that went on at that time.  All I can speak to is they were not market ready.  They did not enter the market, and the system included distribution and generation.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So are you saying that that line should not be governed by the provisions of the Distribution System Code, then?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, I'm not saying that at all.  I'm saying it is my understanding that the Distribution System Code in April -- well, up to April 2003, that that line was part of the distribution system that Fortis or Gananoque Power acquired.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Where is the metering for those plants?  Is it at the plant end or at the station end?

MR. BRADBURY:  It's at the plant.

MR. FAYE:  So when you buy their power, you're buying it before the 39 kilometres of losses; is that fair?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  So the customer is basically paying for all of those losses?

MR. BRADBURY:  Those losses factor into the overall, total loss factor for the utility, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now, if you had a new generator show up, say, tomorrow and he was 39 kilometres out, would you build a line for nothing to connect him?

MR. BRADBURY:  No.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  In fact, you would go through some sort of a cost-benefit analysis or an economic valuation?

MR. BRADBURY:  My understanding, I know there's some processes in the distribution code, but it would be an economic valuation and a generator would pay the share.

MR. FAYE:  So why wouldn't you do the same on what is a rebuild of a line?

MR. BRADBURY:  At this point, really, I guess I have to go back to the original, was the -- you know, the system -- the Gananoque distribution system that was acquired included that north line, and it is a part of the distribution system.

You have a valid argument, but, you know, you look at many things prior to 2002.  When we looked or 2000, I think, during the generic hearing process, many of the assets that were there at that time were grandfathered, to a certain degree, with embedded generation and whatnot.  This plant was definitely there before 2000.

MR. FAYE:  I guess my only concern is that -- how big are these plants, by the way?

MR. BRADBURY:  These plants are more small hydro in the kilowatt range, plus the megawatt, I think.  The total is 3-1/2 megawatts.

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  And the only -- it sounds like they run sort of intermittently.  They're governed by water rights?

MR. BRADBURY:  There is limited water storage - it is primarily around the river - some water storage for water control.

MR. FAYE:  Have you conducted an analysis to see whether the money you put into this line could ever be recovered by the value of the electricity generated there?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, we have not.

MR. FAYE:  Is there a Hydro One transformer station closer than 39 kilometres to these plants?

MR. BRADBURY:  I don't know.

MR. FAYE:  If there was, it's possible that those smaller generators might be connected to a Hydro One plant, rather than to your system, right --

MR. BRADBURY:  It's possible.

MR. FAYE:  -- or a Hydro One station?  Do you have a schematic of the area showing the major transformer and distribution stations?

MR. BRADBURY:  there is a map of the distribution system included.

MR. FAYE:  Would it show the Hydro One facilities and boundaries?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, not showing the Hydro One facilities.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think that is all on that subject.

My last subject is in the Fort Erie interrogatories.  It is our Interrogatory No. 10.  This one was asking questions about your SCAD and your control room.

Just to refresh my memory, how many customers does Fort Erie serve?

MR. BRADBURY:  Fort Erie itself I think is 15,160.

MR. FAYE:  So about 15,000.  And that's a relatively small utility?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  I found it a little surprising that you run an evening shift in your control room, a 15-hour by five-day control room, for a utility with a very limited number of customers.

MR. BRADBURY:  I would note the control room is also our transmission.  We were a transmitter, directly connected and controlled by the IESO control grid.  And we also have assets in Port Colborne, which I said is only -- is contiguous, and that's another 9,000-plus customers.

So, really, in that control room it's roughly 25,000 customers plus the transmission system.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  What do you do on weekends?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  The control room is covered five days a week, 15 hours a day, so there is no coverage on weekends.

After hours and on weekends, we -- calls are taken by an answering service, and we have designated on-call linemen who would respond to outages.  We also have on-call supervisors in the event of more significant system events, such as Hydro One or IESO attempting to contact us.  Then those calls would be routed through to the on-call supervisor.

The role of the on-call supervisor is really to oversee the appropriate response to whatever the emergency might be.  We have also enabled remote access to our SCADA system, so the on-call staff can dial into our SCADA system remotely.  So if there is a need to operate the system remotely, that can be done.

MR. FAYE:  So I think I understand you to say that if you get a trouble call, either after the 15-hour coverage has elapsed or on a weekend, one of your control room operators doesn't go into the control room?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  He would only go into the control room if necessary, because most trouble calls are of a minor nature, which the linemen would take care of.  We would call in an operator only if, you know, we get into a larger-scale outage where we have a feeder out or a couple of feeders out, or a substation goes off line or Hydro One was requiring some major switching, or something like that.

MR. FAYE:  So is it --

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  It all depends on the need, but it is rare when we have to call an operator in.

MR. FAYE:  So your linemen are authorized and capable of administering their own work protection?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  They can ground circuits?  They can tag devices?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, they are.  We work within the Utility Work Protection Code.  Again, for simple scenarios where it might just be, you know, a lateral off the main line, where the lineman needs work protection, you know, they're of course quite competent and qualified to do that.

But, you know, a part of our systemic approach to system control is, like I said, if we do get into a major situation after hours where we do have to transfer load from one substation to another, or we get into a major switching operation to isolate a feeder, then we would want to have an operator writing up the switching orders and overseeing things.

MR. FAYE:  Right.  How often do those kinds of situations develop?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Off the top of my head, going back to last year, we probably had about four or five occasions.

MR. FAYE:  Four or five?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And most of the other occasions would be ones in where linemen feel quite comfortable isolating the area they're working on, switching -- putting in switch tags, locking out switches if necessary, grounding?  Most of your calls would be of that nature, is what I am getting at?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Actually, most of our trouble calls would be even simpler than that, because most of them have to do with just, you know, a transformer outage, for example, a distribution transformer outage, or re-fusing a spur line fuse, things like that, that are very simple in nature.

So in most of our trouble calls, our linemen don't even get into isolation and grounding.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And then on the transmission side --


MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  -- do you have a lot of events on the transmission side that require your control-room operator to take actions?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Are we talking after hours again or anytime?

MR. FAYE:  Well, after hours.  Where I am going, of course, is, your evening shift doesn't appear to have much work associated with it, so unless your transmission side has a lot of work, it doesn't sound like the distribution side could justify having a control-room operator sitting in there waiting for something to happen.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Well, he does a lot more than sitting waiting for things to happen.  The whole idea of having someone monitoring your system is that you are aware of events as they start unfolding, and that assists you with your triage in assessing the problem and then coordinating an appropriate response.

In addition to that, the control-room operators, they do a lot of proactive planning.  So they're looking at switching requests that are coming up several days in advance.  So they're working on those switching orders.  They're working on work protection a few days in advance.

And aside from that, the control-room staff also work on specific projects that we have ongoing.  Like, a couple years ago we had a switch nomenclature project, where we wanted to standardize our nomenclature in Fort Erie and the Port Colborne service territories so that it was a standard numbering system.  And the operators were the driving force behind that.

So during their shifts in the control room, they would be working on ensuring that, you know, switches were -- appropriate tags were being assigned to switches.  And then they're also looking at things like load balancing on our feeders, and they're sort of initiating contact with the line crews to initiate load-balancing operations, where we want to try and ensure the load across the three phases are fairly equivalent, to reduce losses on the system.

So there is a lot going on in the control room besides just monitoring the SCADA system.

MR. FAYE:  How many operators are on the day shift?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  There's one operator on shift at a time, for an eight-hour shift, and then there is an overlap of one hour between the two shifts.  So at any one time, there is only one operator in the control room, except for the one hour, when there is two fellows.

MR. FAYE:  I think what I heard you say about the activities the control-room operators do with their time, they do sound, you know, very logical and necessary, and probably confined mostly to day shift.  Most of the things that you mentioned concerning liaising with line crews and preparing switching plans for them and authorizing them to open and close switches wouldn't apply after hours if you don't have any trouble calls, because you don't have a line crew on evening shift, right?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, that's correct.  After hours there wouldn't be a lot of liaising with line crews except in outage situations.  But again, like I was alluding to earlier, there is still a lot of prep work that needs to be done, and the operator who is on call after hours would be handling those types of things, the preparing your switching orders ahead of time when your -- work protection, as well as working on the other projects that come up from time to time.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I guess my last question, without belabouring this subject too much -- I've got a good understanding now from you of it.

My last question is, do other utilities with 25,000 customers run a five-by-15 control room?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  We have not assessed other utilities of 25,000 customers to be aware of what their practices are.  And I think there's some differences between us and the typical LDC in Ontario as well, because of the fact that we do operate a transmission system, which also brings a greater degree of responsibility, because of the fact that the transmission system is the backbone of your supply and, therefore, problems on the transmission system are automatically elevated to a higher level of, you know, requiring a higher level of attention than problems on your distribution system, because a lot more customers are involved.

So there are those differences between us and your typical 25,000-customer utility.

MR. FAYE:  Just to refresh my memory, could you describe your transmission system:  Size of it, voltage, length, that kind of thing?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Yes, it's a 115-kV transmission system.  It originates in Niagara Falls at Hydro One's Niagara Murray transmission station.  We run two circuits to our Station 11 in Niagara Falls, and then from Niagara Falls we run a single circuit, again at 115 kV, to our Stations 17 and 18 in Fort Erie.  So total line length is about 25 kilometres.

MR. FAYE:  Is it on steel or wood?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  The two-kilometre section between Murray TS and our Station 11 is on a steel tower line.  Between Station 11 and Fort Erie it is primarily wooden poles, except for one section between Station 17 and 18, where we use steel towers.  We go back to steel columns between 17 and 18.  And then there is a section -- because we have also got an interconnection with the U.S., so we've got two towers as we approach the river crossing going over to Buffalo.

MR. FAYE:  And do I understand that the IESO does not have operating authority over that circuit -- or those two circuits?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  They do.

MR. FAYE:  They do?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  We have to follow the direction of the IESO in operating those circuits.

MR. BRADBURY:  All of our transmission assets are part of the IESO control grid.

MR. FAYE:  So they would have operating control in their control room of those circuits.

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.  And we have to -- we have to maintain all of the obligations of the IESO in the operation of our transmission system.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I am just sort of clarifying that these circuits are monitored by someone else, as well as yourselves?

MR. BRADBURY:  They're monitored, yes.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  Well, yeah, they're monitored -- I guess, for clarification, the IESO would have monitoring, but not control over the circuits, in terms of the circuit-breakers within our substations.

MR. FAYE:  They can't open and close breakers?

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  They would not be able to open and close breakers on our system.  In an extreme emergency, they would have to get Hydro One to interrupt the supply at Niagara Murray TS.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  All right.  And one last quick question.  And it has, again, to do with benchmarking.  I think I saw something in the application where CNP overall hasn't -- well, to be blunt, it was at the bottom of a list of productivity measures.  And I know you have some reasons why you think that you are different.

But I wonder if benchmarking against other utilities in such things as cost of your control-room operation might be a way for you to improve performance there.

MR. BRADBURY:  You are not referring to any particular interrogatory now, just a general statement regarding --

MR. FAYE:  A general statement.

MR. BRADBURY:  And you're referring to the PEG report?


MR. FAYE:  Right.

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.  We recognize the -- our standing as published in the PEG report.  However, we have -- we are on the record as disagreeing with certain aspects.

One of the most recent submissions we made to Board Staff in the last round was the -- when we were reviewing the low voltage -- was the fact that in all three of our service territories -- and I refer to them as mature distribution systems, as opposed to many of the LDCs that surround Greater Toronto, or the LDCs that have seen a fair amount of growth.

And these LDCs, in some cases I refer to them as pure poles-and-wires LDCs.  They take 27.6 at the transmission station, at Hydro One's transmission station.  They did distribute 27.6, and they have limited stations, and a lot of them have limited station assets.

In all three of Canadian Niagara Power service territories we rely on stations.  For Port Colborne, most of its industrial and fringe areas are fed from 27.6, but they operate at six municipal stations, stepping down to 4160.

Fort Erie, there is two transmission stations, 17 and 18, the standard referred to, and then we have a series of stations, either 4,800 delta, 4160 Y, or our newer station now to begin the process of transferring the 8.3 or 15 kV class station.

In Gananoque, those familiar with the geography, Gananoque stretches all the way back to Battersea Road in Kingston, and there is a series of small stations.

What we have indicated is, you know, in all three of -- we incur a great deal of station maintenance costs, and when we're compared to LDCs that don't have those costs, then, you know, I don't see that as a fair comparison.

While I agree the PEG report is taking us down the right direction, it is not all-encompassing, and I don't think it could be used in this matter as a gauge that really gauges one's productivity in terms of those numbers.

MR. FAYE:  Do you have a sense of where you would fall -- if there was some consideration and accommodation for the factors you have just mentioned --

MR. TAYLOR:  I am going to jump in.

MR. FAYE:  -- how far up would you rise?

MR. TAYLOR:  I am going to jump in here, Peter.  We want to avoid a conversation about our rankings in the PEG report for the reasons that were just described.

But we would be happy to answer questions that you have about the costs that have been included in the application as they pertain to CNPI and the rate application.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, that's fair.  I guess I just come back to the main point.  You would agree with the proposition that benchmarking against other utilities could yield some positive results for you, cost-wise?

MR. BRADBURY:  Benchmarking against like utilities?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, similar size, similar situation.

MR. BRADBURY:  Similar operating characteristics?

MR. FAYE:  Yes.

MR. BRADBURY:  As I said, size --

MR. FAYE:  Number of customers, number of municipal stations that are running it.  You're not going to find anyone perfect, I agree with you there.

MR. TAYLOR:  Are you talking about benchmarking generally, or the specific PEG report?

MR. FAYE:  I am talking about benchmarking generally, benchmarking your costs for operating the control room against similarly situated utilities.

MR. BRADBURY:  Again, it would have to be like as Stan explained.  It is operating multiple distribution utilities and a transmitter.  So you would have to be careful in how you are doing the comparison, but yes.

MR. SHEOGOBIND:  We would have to keep in mind, as well, the costs of that centralized control room function are allocated to the transmission business, the Fort Erie distribution business, and the Port Colborne business.

So those costs don't all reside in Fort Erie.  It is allocated out to the different businesses because of the fact it is a centralized control room function that is basically doing three jobs.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, I think I understand your position.  Thank you.  That's all my questions unless -- did you have any?

Thank you.

MS. COCHRANE:  Any other intervenors have questions for the panel?  Okay.  So --

MR. TAYLOR:  Before we sign off, there are a couple of matters I think we need to deal with.  First of all, Schools asked for an undertaking.  Specifically they asked for the memo that pertained to the SAP or the decision to not upgrade the SAP system.

We would be happy to provide that memo.

MS. COCHRANE:  Okay.  That will be undertaking JT.1.
Undertaking No. JT.1:  To provide memo re SAP.

MR. TAYLOR:  That's number 1.  Number 2, I believe that CNPI would like to clarify the record in regard to the communication with its regulatory personnel and its board of directors.

MR. HAWKES:  Yes.  I would just like to clarify that in fact our board of directors does approve the application process.

It is made aware of the rate impacts.  It is made aware of the rate application process, and we provide a regulatory update to our board of directors at every meeting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just follow up to that.

So I understand, then, that your board has seen the rates you proposed?

MR. HAWKES:  They have been provided a verbal presentation, including rate impact.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they haven't seen the rates you proposed?

MR. HAWKES:  I don't believe they saw the rate sheet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason it came up was because Mr. Bradbury was telling me about how he balances out the various considerations in rate design.  And where I was going with it, if you had said, We tell our board what we're doing, which you now have, is what have you told your board?  How did you report to your board on those trade-offs that you made in optimizing the rates, if anything?

MR. BRADBURY:  I made, as Scott said, an oral presentation to a board.  I was called into a board meeting as an agenda item.

I present to them the nature of the application, the fact it was a forward test year.  I present our determined service revenues.

Then I talk about the -- I guess you call it the guidance given by the Board, the fact that we had our cost allocation study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just stop you, Mr. Bradbury.  I don't actually want to know about the internal conversations you had with your board about the strategy you are taking and why you have done what you have done.  As much as I would be fascinated by that, that's not really where I am going with that.

Where I am going is I am looking for somewhere where you put, in a PowerPoint slide or in a memo or somewhere, your rationale for how you optimized the rates.

So that is why I was asking about the board, because that's one of the places you might do that.

MR. BRADBURY:  The rationale that I gave when I spoke to the board was fairness to all customer classes.  It was done in a manner to spread the increase in service revenue requirement fairly amongst the customer classes, while respecting the Board's guidelines.  That was my words to the board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was there a PowerPoint slide on that?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, there was not a slide presentation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MS. COCHRANE:  Are there any other submissions or questions from any of the parties?

Okay.  So I guess this would conclude the technical conference portion of today.  We will break for the lunch and conference call until 2:00 p.m., at which time we will reconvene and start the settlement conference and see what we can get done there.
Procedural Matters:

MR. SHEPHERD:  One procedural matter.

We found that last week, the similar technical conference and then ADR, that it was possible to get the ADR room for the ADR component, and I understand it is free this afternoon.

MR. HARMER:  If it's free, we will make use of it.  Otherwise, we have this room today.

Tomorrow, if the settlement conference continues, we are in the ADR room.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If it is possible to check to see if we can use it this afternoon, I believe it is free.  Thanks.

MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 11:45 a.m.
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